Our Vision, Mission and Values
Our Vision

Our Values

To be the world’s leading small
Airport and ATM service provider
whilst projecting our heritage.

These core values are equally
important in the pursuit of our
corporate goals:

Our Mission

•
•
•
•
•

To ensure world-class airports and
air traffic management facilities
and services in the Fiji Islands
that are managed in a safe, secure
and efficient manner that meet
ICAO standards, exceed customer
expectations, and provide a fair
return on shareholders’ funds.

Our People
Stakeholders
Teamwork
Innovation
Accountability
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Letter to the Minister
16th June 2011
The Honourable Aiyaz Sayed Khaiyum,
Attorney-General and Minister for Justice,
Anti-Corruption, Public Enterprises, Communications,
Civil Aviation, Tourism, Industry and Trade
Level 7, Suvavou House,
Victoria Parade,
Suva.
Dear Minister,
Airports Fiji Ltd Annual Report for 2010
On behalf of the Directors of Airports Fiji Limited, I am pleased to present the Company’s
2010 Annual Report as required under Section 103 of the Public Enterprise Act, 1996.
The Report incorporates the Company’s operational achievements and audited financial
statements for the year ended 31st December 2010.
Airports Fiji Limited recorded a net profit after tax of $8,759,106 for the year 2010,
compared to $5,761,861 reported in 2009.
On behalf of members of the Company, I take this opportunity to thank the Government for
its on-going support, and look forward to continued support in 2011 and beyond.

Adrian Sofield
Chairman
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About Airports Fiji Limited
Who we are

Management (ATM) in the Nadi

Act of 1996. Total passenger traffic

Flight Information Region (FIR) and

was 153,614, whilst domestic aircraft

Airports Fiji Limited (AFL) is a fully

Fiji’s airspace;

movements to these airports are

owned Government Commercial
Company (GCC) that was established

approximately 6,617 annually.
(c) Operate as a successful business

on 12th April 1999 under the Public

and achieve a 10% Return on

Enterprises Act, 1996. It was formed

Shareholders Funds (ROSF),

following the reorganisation of the
Civil Aviation Authority of Fiji (CAAF).

(d) Invest in the development and
maintenance of adequate airports

The Company has dual reporting,

and ATM facilities for current and

to Attorney General and Minister

future needs.

for Justice, Anti Corruption, Public
Enterprises, Communications, Civil

Nadi International Airport is the main

Aviation, Tourism, Industry and Trade

international airport and gateway to the

and for its commercial performance,

Fiji Islands.

and to the Minister for Foreign Affairs,
International Cooperation and Civil
Aviation on aviation policy matters.
AFL owns and manages Nadi
International Airport and manages
Nausori and 13 other domestic
outer island airports on behalf of the
Government.

Airports Fiji Limited has a staff strength
of 467 that works from a total asset base
of $195 million, which is spread over the
Fiji Islands.
AFL serves 28 airlines and connects
Fiji to 18 cities in the region, and
internationally.

Our Customers
and partners

It handles 98% of the total of

Our customers and partners include

international visitors to Fiji, 80% of

passengers, the airlines, the aviation

whom are tourists, 25 international

industry, the general public, tenants,

scheduled flights a day, and 78,000

service suppliers, aviation, the

aircraft movements annually. Total

regulator, ICAO, transport operators,

passenger traffic through Nadi Airport

tourism operators, unions and

for international arriving, transiting and

Government agencies.

departing passengers was 1,412,499
AFL also provides Air Traffic

in 2010, whilst domestic was 581,393

We cooperate with Government on two

Management (ATM) services in the

passengers. Nadi International Airport

fronts: as the owner of the company,

Nadi Flight Information Region (FIR).

generates 97% of Airports Fiji Limited’s

and in terms of aviation policy, border

This includes the air spaces of Fiji,

total revenue and 100% of its profits.

control, quarantine, and in aviation

Tuvalu, New Caledonia, Kiribati and
Vanuatu, covering a 6.0 million square
kilometre area.

Nausori Airport is the second
international airport and domestic hub

Our Business
Airports Fiji Limited core responsibilities
are to:
(a) Carry on the business of
international, domestic and outer
island airport operations;
(b) Carry on the business of Air Traffic
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safety regulations under the Civil

in Fiji. It handled 19,456 international
passengers and about 194,376 domestic
passengers in 2010.
The 13 outer island airports are
operated on a non–commercial basis
supported by an annual capital grant
provided by Government, pursuant to
the provisions of the Public Enterprise
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YEAR AT A GLANCE
• Total international passenger movements increased by 14.5%
from 1,233,972 to 1,412,499.
• Total aircraft traffic in the FIR and terminal navigation area
decreased by 14.9% from 122,193 to 103,929.
• Revenue was up by $9,203 million or 19.8% from $46.408
million in 2009 to $55.611 million in 2010.
• Operating expenditure increased by $2.662 million or 27.5%
from $9.602 million in 2009 to $12.238 million in 2010.
• EBITDA increased by 24.7% from $19.803 million in 2009 to
$24.703 million in 2010.
• Expense to revenue ratio improved in 2010 to 79.1% compared
to 84.6% in 2009.
• Return on Capital employed was 7.4% in 2010 compared to
5.5% in 2009.
• Return on Shareholder’s funds after social obligation was
6.7% in 2010 compared to 4.6% in 2009.
• Continuous investment in employee training and welfare.
• Full Crash exercise successfully conducted at Nadi Airport.
• Aviation Academy formally commenced classes with five
cadets.
• $8.7 million investment in facilities and equipment.
• Winner of 2010 Annual Report Competition in Category C.
• Winner of Achievement Level Award in the Fiji Business
Excellence Awards.
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

It is my privilege to present to you

at all our airports equal to that

and Japan. While it is still too early to

the 2010 annual report for Airports

anywhere in the world.

predict the affect it will have on total

Fiji Limited. Having been appointed

As a major part of our 2011 activities

arrivals, we are confident that with

its Chairman in January 2011 it is

we will be upgrading Nausori

our new expanding markets from

gratifying to see an organisation so

International and the domestic

India, China and Singapore, we will be

strongly positioned for growth in the

airports. Nausori will receive special

able to maintain our numbers.

coming years.

attention, with the addition of its
three hangars into the AFL portfolio

While only being Chairman of AFL

This has afforded us a unique

expected to be in place in early 2011.

for a short time, it is apparent from

opportunity to address those areas

These will bring another dimension

the results we have attained both

that will make the organisation safer,

to the airport and are expected to

financially and operationally that the

more responsive to the requirements

provide substantial commercial

organisation has an excellent team

of our partners, and will increase our

opportunities.

and I would like to thank them for
their efforts.

income streams to make AFL even
more profitable.

A major ongoing expense for AFL is
the repair and upgrading of landing

To my fellow Board Members, it is

We will continue to invest in safety,

strips. It is a core responsibility for

with gratitude that I thank them

ensuring that all our compliance

the organisation to make sure that

for their patience and assistance in

requirements are adhered to; with

our population, even in the more

providing me their guidance as their

the responsibility of operating two

remote areas of the country, have

new Chairman.

international airports as well as 13

access to air travel. Additionally,

domestic airports around the country,

many of the terminals are in need

And finally, to the Fiji Government,

compliance challenges are numerous.

of upgrading, and that is in the

our main stakeholder, we are very

implementation stage.

aware of the importance of AFL
as a gateway to tourism and as an

As a part of our safety efforts, we will
continue to expand our AFL Aviation

With over one million passengers

economic stimulus for the country.

Academy that presently offers air

using Nadi International Airport

Our commitment is that we will

traffic management, and fire and

facilities and amenities, commercial

continue to perform to the highest

security courses, into a full range

activities provide an important source

level.

of aviation disciplines to develop

of income for AFL. We are presently

manpower needs into the future.

reviewing all of our commercial

This school will also encourage

activities to find ways that we can

enrolment by students from our

improve customer services, and at the

island neighbours.

same time, provide further income
streams for AFL and its stakeholders.

Security will continue to be the main

It has been a difficult year for three

priority at AFL, and we have recently

of our major markets and we believe

introduced a number of actions that

this will be reflected in visitor

we are confident will make safety

numbers from New Zealand, Australia

Adrian Sofield
Chairman
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’ S REPORT

We experienced a challenging year,

in our FIR and Terminal area had a

Airport Fiji Limited’s financial position

but one that has delivered pleasing

positive growth of 7.7% as compared

remains strong. Total assets as at

results for AFL shareholders and

to last year’s decline of 3.2%. Please

31 December 2010 increased to

for the wide range of stakeholders.

refer to our Airport Statistics section

$194.979 million, compared with

It has been tremendously satisfying

on page 14 for full details.

$174.335 million at 31 December

to have been part of a team that
has overseen a renewed focus on
cost efficiencies, improved business
processes, and a fundamental review
of the Company in its readiness to
embrace the challenges of the future.
The Company has made substantial
improvements in its financial
achievements over the last few years
due to continuous improvement of
processes. As a testament, AFL has
won Achievement Level in the Fiji
Excellence in Business Award in 2010,
and won the first prize in Category C
of the South Pacific Stock Exchange
Annual Report Competition.

Passenger
Movements
The traffic results announced by
the International Air Transport
Association (IATA) for that year show
that the industry ended 2010 with an
8.2% increase in passenger business.
Average passenger load factor for
the year was 78.4%, which is a 2.7
percentage point improvement on
2009. The international passenger
movement, a key source of revenue
for AFL, increased by 178,527,
(14.5%), compared to 2009.
International aircraft movements

2009. Total liabilities increased by

Financials

$15.989 million to $64.867 million,

Earnings

at 31 December 2009. The Debt

AFL reported a net profit before tax of
$11.6 million, up $4.4 million (62.6%)
on the December 2009 year result,
reinforcing the Company’s stability
during a year of financial uncertainty

compared with $48.877 million as
Service Cover Ratio (DSCR) as at 31
December 2010 was 3.8. The interest
cover ratio, which determines how
easily a company can pay interest
on outstanding debt was 10.8. The

for the world’s aviation industry.

Gearing Ratio is the contribution of

Aeronautical revenues increased

The ratio explains the degree to which

14.5%, or $4.510 million, with
a positive growth of passenger
numbers and aircraft movements.
Non-aeronautical revenue increased
by 30.6%, or $4.693 million. The
increase is a result of concession
revenue and rental received from
the transfer of land and the housing
estate from CAAFI to AFL.
Total expenses for 2010 increased
by 12.0% or $4.726 million against
last year. Wages is one of our largest
expenses, totaling $12.545 million
in 2010, followed by depreciation

the owner’s equity to borrowed funds.
the business is funded by the owner,
as against borrowed funds. As at 31
December 2010, the gearing ratio of
AFL was 11.7%, compared to 15.7%
in 2009.

Maximising Returns
Shareholder’s equity increased by
$4.654 million in 2010. The return
on shareholder’s equity was 6.7%
in 2010. Return on assets was 4.5%
compared to 3.3% in 2009. The
key performance indicators are
summarised below.

of $11.896 million. Repair and
maintenance costs in 2010 were
$3.160 million, an increase of
18.0% ($0.483 million) due to the
continuous refurbishment of the
terminal buildings and maintenance
of equipments.
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Indicators

2010

2009

2008

Revenue ($m)

55,611

46,408

44,025

40,399

41,147

EBIT ($m)

12,807

8,734

7,167

3,746

4,130

Total Assets ($m)

194,979

174,335

176,754

179,197

178,536

Return on Assets (%)

4.5%

3.30%

2.60%

0.40%

0.72%

Capital Investment ($m)

8,721

7,289

6,241

4,296

12,500

130,112

125,458

121,989

107,935

107,558

Return on Shareholders’ equity

6.73%

4.59%

3.76%

0.66%

1.20%

Dividends ($)

3,000

2,293

1,000

0.316

1,281		

Shareholders’ Equity ($m)

8

2007

2006

Nausori International
Airport

aircraft from Nausori Airport, there
lights, replace the runway lights, and

The domestic airports play a crucial

Air Pacific resumed the Auckland

upgrade the runways and taxiways so

role towards the development of Fiji’s

flights from Nausori International

that bigger and faster aircraft can be

regional economies. However, due to

Airport in 2010. During 2010, the

accommodated.

lower passenger and aircraft volumes,

terminal building was painted

AFL also won the tender to purchase

these airports continue to incur

and upgraded to provide a better

the three hangars at the airport. The

operational losses and in 2009 AFL

experience for the domestic and

transfer is expected to be completed

incurred a total of $3.439 million in

international passengers. Due to

in 2011. The hangars will be used for

operational losses in managing these

the resumption of flights by bigger

commercial purposes.

airports on behalf of the Government.

are plans to install the approach

AIRPORTS FIJI LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010

Domestic Airports

In the beginning of 2010, Cylone

for the upgrade of equipment and

and employees required to meet

Thomas did major damage to the

$0.972 for the upgrade of outer Island

the demands of growth in the 2010

Matei terminal building on Taveuni,

infrastructure.

period. We have achieved positive
results in 2010 and I thank our

which was completely destroyed, and
to the Savusavu Runway seawalls on
Vanua Levu. Damage was also done to

Land Transfer

AFL team for their commitment to
realising that outcome.

the navigational equipment, which is

The transfer of all land and buildings

now replaced. A new Matei terminal

from CAAFI to AFL was completed

Thank you, to our Honourable Prime

will be constructed in 2011. There

in January 2010. The housing estate

Minister, shareholding Ministers

are plans to upgrade all the terminal

managed by the Civil Aviation

and Permanent Secretaries for their

buildings in the northern airports to

Authority of the Fiji Islands (CAAFI)

assistance and strong support in the

provide better passenger processing

was transferred on June 2010.

operations of our company.

facilities.

This transfer will provide AFL with
the resources to develop its non-

I would also like to acknowledge

Investments

aeronautical business, which is

the work and contributions of the

currently contributing only 30% of

Board Directors, and look forward

Over the last five years, we have

the revenue. A total of 1,197 acres

to achieving productive outcomes

invested over $42 million in

of land, together with all immovable

with them in the coming year. The

expanding and upgrading the airports

and moveable properties, were

challenges are sure to continue in

and equipments. As a result, we

transferred to AFL to manage

2011, but I believe we are in a position

have a base of quality infrastructure

on behalf of the shareholders.

to meet them successfully at all

assets, well placed to cater for

Work started on the cleaning of

levels.

current demand and likely growth

the compounds, landscaping and

in the near future. In 2010 AFL

maintenance of houses. The work will

invested over $1.4 million in runway

continue in 2011 and strategies are

repairs, $1 million in AMHS & ATN

in place to get a fair return from the

trials, $2.7 million in ADS-B, $0.692

land and housing estate.

million to replace of the digital voice
recorder, $0.574 for the upgrade
of buildings, $0.291 million for the
purchase of vehicles, $1.125 million

Acknowledgements
It has been another busy year of
challenges, with our management

Timoci Tuisawau,
Chief Executive Officer.
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Operations Review
Our people
As at 31 December 2010, AFL
employed 467 people (2009: 447) in a
variety of management, technical and
administrative roles. This increase in
employee numbers is a result of the
focus on strengthening the skills and
knowledge base in preparation for
expected growth.
Employees play a vital role in
ensuring that the Company meets
its business objectives. AFL provides
a variety of training initiatives to
increase employees’ skills and
knowledge, enhancing both their
future and the Company’s. Employees
are encouraged to participate in
tertiary education. AFL provides
benefits to employees undertaking
study toward self-development and
improved qualifications. This provides
employees with financial assistance
towards the cost of tertiary study in
recognised courses that will benefit
their role and the organisation.
The staff turnover rate for 2010 was
4.81% (2009: 5.61%). Historically,
AFL has a low turnover rate, which

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

highlights the success of the

Dec 06
Dec 07
			

initiatives to promote AFL as an
employer of choice.
AFL continues to strengthen
communication with employees and

Dec 08

Dec 09

Full Time
476
464
			

453

447

467		

Total

453

447

467		

476

464

Number of Employee
			

Dec 10

Cost

recognises the need to maintain

Overseas Training
			

11

$50,096

timely, accurate information.

Local Training
			

52

$49,885

Employees receive communication

Tuition Fees

1

$20,247		

on a regular basis via a number
of different media, and are able to

Retired

14

publications and policies via the

Terminated

2

internal website. In 2010 AFL re-

New Appointments

56

launched the new-look quarterly

Promotions

8

Demotions

Nil

access work related documents,

newsletter – Runway News. The
aim of the newsletter is to provide
employees with information on both

Deaths

5
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the serious and the lighter side of
life at the airports. In particular,
the newsletter presents stories on
our safety initiatives, operational
performance and projects, employee
profiles and new appointments, and
employee and community events.
AFL places emphasis on the
Occupational Health & Safety (OHS)
of its people and customers. In 2010,
an OHS Officer was recruited with
extensive experience in this field.
The primary role of this position is
to ensure that AFL complies with
all OHS requirements and makes
the workplace safe. In total, four
accidents were reported on AFL
premises, a reduction from six in
2009.
In 2010, AFL organised the ‘Family
Day’ for its people and families.
Over four hundred husbands, wives,
children, relatives and friends turned
out at the AFL compound to celebrate
the Family Day. The aim of organising
the Family Day was so that the AFL
people would get to know each
other. Four teams were formed for
preliminary rounds leading up to
the Family Day. The teams were
named after the Core Values of AFL:

projects. In 2010 over 1,000 students

Employees are actively involved with

from 14 schools toured the facilities.

charity events and fundraising each
year, volunteering for a number of

The Community Support Programme

activities that not only benefit the

continued in 2010, providing financial

community, but also the nation. In

and in-kind assistance to various

October 2010, the staff, together with

community groups and non-profit

Border Police, the Airport Rugby Club

organisations. Some of the key

and Namaka Volleyball Association,

sponsorship and contributions were

collected rubbish in the Airport

other.

to the Pacific Children’s Foundation,

compound and the general Namaka

where AFL sponsored five students

Area.

The Community

by paying the school fees and other
schooling requirements, Dilkushha

In September 2010, AFL and the staff

AFL continues to build on community

Home, various women’s clubs,

supported the Biggest Morning Tea

partnerships, providing regular

donations to schools, Fiji Red Cross

– a fundraiser that supports the Fiji

communication, tours of facilities,

and the Prime Minister’s Relief Fund.

Cancer Society. A sum of $1,000 was

Innovation, Accountability, People
and Team Work. The team members
were selected at random to ensure
that staff from every department
were posted in different groups and
had a chance to get to know each

support of community events and

contributed by AFL.

non-profit organisations. It provides

AFL participated in the 2010 Bula

a free tour of facilities to school

Festival where it won the first runner-

students upon request from schools.

up prize. This was an initiative to

This tour mostly relates to students’

engage with our community and also
raise funds for charity.
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New services, such as additional
ATM machines and foreign exchange
outlets were added in 2010 to provide
more choices for the travelling public.
AFL also introduced Internet
computer stations, managed
by “Tomizone”, in arrivals and
departures at the Nadi Terminal,
providing internet services to waiting
passengers.
Nausori International has introduced
a Wishbone Food outlet that has
proven popular with passengers and
is an additional income earner for
AFL.
A major undertaking during the
year was the beautification of both
Nadi and Nausori airports. This
is an ongoing effort. Much has
been accomplished, with positive
comments from passengers as well
as service providers.
AFL is well aware that at Nadi
International Airport most passengers
are experiencing their first, and

AFL is well
aware that at

Commercial
Activities

last, image of Fiji. Throughout the
terminal, images of the country have
been introduced in the departure
and check-in areas, arrivals and in

Nadi International

Commercial activities for the year

the compound. Billboards at Nadi

were primarily focused on increasing

and Nausori International Airports

Airport most

the revenue base, presentation and

promote the staff of AFL; and a

passengers are

services at both Nadi and Nausori

unique billboard at Nadi promotes

International Airports.

the region. Both airports have had a

experiencing their

facelift with new paint and signage.
New policies and standards were

first, and last, image

introduced that addressed a number

During the year AFL assumed the

of operational shortcomings.

responsibility of the CAAFI housing

of Fiji. Throughout

Of special importance in the year

estate with 186 homes. It will offer

the terminal,

was ensuring that AFL’s tourism

many commercial opportunities

partners are well represented,

that are presently being explored.

not only in improved ‘meet and

Of particular interest is the

greet’ procedures, but in airport

redevelopment of the Nadi Sports and

country have been

signage that promotes Tourism Fiji’s

Social Club, with the rebuilding of the

worldwide campaign ‘FijiMe’ on its

swimming pool.

introduced.

billboards, in and around the Nadi and

images of the

		

Nausori International Airports.
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Key Statistics
In the 2010 year, total passenger
movements were 1,993,892, an
increase of 5.5 percent over the
2009 year. International passenger
movements increased by 14.5 percent
as a result of competitive ticket prices
and marketing of the Fiji brand in
major markets. Domestic passenger
movements declined by 11.4 percent,
due to reduction in domestic aircraft
movements.

increase in overfly between Australia

with the passenger volume increase.

and US routes.

The Company’s airfield income is
determined from the MCTOW of

The outlook for passenger volumes

aircraft landings.

in the 2011 financial year is difficult
to predict due to natural disasters

Total international MCTOW increased

in our major partner countries. Our

by 14.4 percent, principally as a

base expectation is for international

result of the increase in the number

passenger numbers to decline by

of airline partners and new routes in

around 0.1 percent.

2010. The new airline partners were
V-Australia, Jet Star, Continental
Airline, Our Airline and Air Pacific’s

Total aircraft movements were
103,929, a decrease of 14.9 percent
from 2009. International aircraft
movements increased by 7.7 percent,
while domestic aircraft movements
decreased by 12.0 percent.
The total MCTOW (Maximum
Certificated Take-Off Weight) was
950,135 tonnes, an increase of 9.2

14

percent over 2009, which is in line

Hong Kong route.
Total domestic MCTOW decreased by
5.4 percent following reductions in
service by domestic airlines.
Total Air Navigation Service Units
increased by 12.4 percent from
2009. This increase is again due to
an increase in the number of airline
partners, new routes in 2010, and an

AIRPORTS FIJI LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010
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Passenger and Aircraft Statistics						
Year
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
							
Passenger Movements
International Arrivals

634,575

627,287

662,260

588,463

680,638

International Departures

644,468

634,589

673,221

595,971

681,890

Transits & Transfers
Total International Passengers
Growth%
Total Domestic Passengers
Growth%

48,248

61,756

77,715

49,538

49,971

1,327,291

1,323,632

1,413,196

1,233,972

1,412,499

0.7%

-0.3%

6.8%

-12.7%

14.5%

425,331

354,591

582,092

656,200

581,393

-3.0%

-16.6%

64.2%

12.7%

-11.4%

1,752,622

1,678,223

1,995,288

1,890,172

1,993,892

Growth%
-0.2%
-4.2%
			

18.9%

-5.3%

5.5%

Total Passenger Movements

Aircraft Movements
International aircraft movements

35,450

36,218

36,480

35,319

38,045

Domestic aircraft movements

42,157

45,316

45,526

40,877

35,968

Other

42,296

41,686

45,503

45,997

29,916

119,903

123,220

127,509

122,193

103,929

Total aircraft movements

Growth%
3.2%
2.8%
3.5%
-4.2%
-14.9%
						
MCTOW (Maximum certified
take-off weight)
						
International MCTOW
Growth%
Domestic MCTOW
Growth%
Total MCTOW

702,176

653,723

675,208

640,542

-2.8%

-6.9%

3.3%

-5.1%

733,071
14.4%

208,498

260,762

260,995

229,471

217,064

-1.7%

25.1%

0.1%

-12.1%

-5.4%

855,110

846,577

868,528

821,210

950,135

Growth%
-2.4%
-1.0%
2.6%
-5.4%
15.7%
						
Air Navigation Service Units
Growth%

16

2,463,485

2,300,249

2,316,215

2,518,062

2,831,168

-8.9%

-6.6%

0.7%

8.7%

12.4%
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Adrian Sofield

Samuela Tamani

Chairman

Director

Pio Tikoduadua

Greg Lawlor

Faiz Khan

Director

Director

Director
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The Management TEAM

Timoci Tuisawau

Chief Executive Officer

Lawrance Liew

General Manager Airports

Hank Arts

General Manager
Commercial

Epeli Naivalu
General Manager
ATM & Aviation Academy

Moagrava Elaisa

Konrad Szczepaniak

Naushad Ali

Petero Delai

General Manager
Engineering and
Infrustructure

General Manager Finance
and IT

Manager Special Projects
ATM

Manager Telecom
Services

Vula Seru

Molly Murphy

Luke Koroi

Pita Leweniqila

Manager ATM

Manager Risk & Safety

Sanaila Seru

Davina Chan

Manager Airport Security
Services

Manager Legal Services

Manager Nausori Airport

Manager Human
Resources &
Administration

Janaka Kumara

Joe Gray

Manager Electrical and
Mechanical

Acting Airport Manager
- Nadi
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Corporate
Governance
Practices
Role of the Board
The Board is responsible for charting
the Company’s strategic direction,
objective setting, policy guidelines,
goals for management, and
monitoring the achievement of these
matters.

Composition of the Board
The Board comprises four nonexecutive Directors as at 31
December 2010; the Directors in
office at that time were Rick Rickman,
Samuela Tamani, Pio Tikoduadua
and Greg Lawlor. The Directors are
appointed or removed by the Minister
of Public Enterprise. As per the
articles of the Company, the number
of Directors should not exceed seven
members, unless otherwise specified
by the Minister for Public Enterprise.

The Board also reviews the Business
Plan, Corporate Plan and Statement

Directors’ Code of Conduct

of Corporate Intent, Industrial

The establishment of a Corporate

Relations Plan, and approves
Operating and Capital Budgets each
year. The Board also reviews matters
of a major or unusual nature, which
are not in the ordinary course of
business.

the Company’s periodic reports,
and compliance with applicable
governmental rules and regulations.
The Board periodically reviews
and assesses the adequacy of the
Code of Ethics and implements any
modifications as is necessary.
The Role of the Directors is defined
in sections 32 and 57 of the Public
Enterprise Act. A key responsibility
of the Directors is to achieve the
principal objective of the GCC as
stated in section 43 of the said act.
Section 43 states that,
a)

The principal objective of every

Code of Conduct and Ethics is

Government Commercial

designed to promote honest and

Company (GCC) is to operate

ethical conduct, including ethical

as a successful business and,

handling of conflicts of interest;

to this end, to be as profitable

full, fair, accurate, timely and

and efficient as comparable

understandable disclosure in

businesses that are not owned by
the State.

20
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b)

The principal objective of the
every Government Commercial

I. To exercise the care and diligence
of a reasonable person;

Company is to be achieved
through the application of the key

c)

II. To exercise their power and

principals of public enterprise

discharge their duties in good faith

reform and their elements.

and for a proper purpose;

The Board is also bound by
section 6.13 of the Articles of

III. To refrain from the improper use
of their position for personal gain,

the Company, and the individual
terms of their respective contract
letters.

IV. To refrain from making use of
inside information for personal
gain.

Statutory Duties of the
Board
In addition to the above, the Board
of Directors of AFL collectively
and individually has agreed on the
fulfilment of following duties towards
the company:

Fiduciary Duties of
Directors
The Directors of AFL also owe the
following fiduciary duties to the
Company. These fiduciary duties form
the Code of Ethics of AFL.

AIRPORTS FIJI LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010
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A fiduciary relationship imposes an

financial performance and risk

obligation of utmost good faith on

management, business investments

the Directors by putting the interests

and strategic matters.

of the Company first, and the AFL
Directors have pledged to uphold this

Board Committees

principal at all times.

The Committees of the Board are as

The fiduciary duties of the Directors
will have the following four
dimensions:
I.

To act in good faith in the best
interests of the Company;

II. To exercise powers for a
proper purpose;
III. To retain discretion,
IV. To avoid conflicts of interest.

follows, and meet a minimum of 12
times a year. The Board Committees
are responsible for deliberating
detailed issues and making suitable
recommendations to the Board.

Finance and Audit
Subcommittee
The Finance and Audit Committee
is chaired by Mr. Greg Lawlor. The

Board Meetings
The Board held 12 regular meetings
during the financial year ended 31
December 2010. The regular business
of the Board during its meetings
covers corporate governance,

22

internal and external auditors attend
Committee meetings by invitation.
These meetings are an open forum
where information is provided and
concerns discussed. The Finance and
Audit Committee’s responsibilities
include, but are not limited to:
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The regular

•

charter, and overseeing internal

business of the
Board during
its meetings
covers corporate
governance, financial
performance and
risk management,

Following the internal audit
audit and compliance functions;

•

Making recommendations based
on the results of Internal Audit
Reviews;

•

Making recommendations based

The Human Resources Committee
was chaired by Mr. Rick Rickman. The
Committee’s responsibilities include,
but are not limited to:
•

•

Reviewing and making
recommendation on the annual

salaries and agreements;
•

of recommendations arising from

Overseeing ethical conduct and

audits and reviews of systems and

governance functions.
The Audit and Compliance Committee

investments and

by the Board.

Reviewing reports and
overseeing the implementation

financial statements,
•

Monitoring and implementing
recommendations relating to

on the external auditors reports;

business
strategic matters.

Human Resources
Committee

processes;
•

Providing strategic direction for
human resource management,

operates under a charter established

training, planning and
development,
•

Making recommendations to the
Board on remuneration issues.
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Commercial Committee
The Commercial Committee is
chaired by Mr. Rick Rickman. The

Committee’s responsibilities include,

Enterprise in 2010. A further sum of

but are not limited to:

$43,296 was paid for other expenses,

•

Planning and making

mainly for travel and accommodation,

recommendations of physical

that were incurred during the course

resource requirements of the

of their duties. Directors were also

company,

covered under the Directors’ and

Monitoring project

Officers’ Insurance Policy and a

implementations.

Personal Accident Policy.

Committee’s responsibilities include,
but are not limited to:
•

Monitoring the Commercial

•

performance of the company;
•

Reviewing reports and
overseeing the implementation
of recommendations arising from

Directors’ Remuneration

audits and reviews of systems and

As per section 5.6 of the Company’s

processes;
•

Article of Association, The Minister

Providing strategic direction

for Public Enterprise retains the

for Commercial planning and

ultimate authority to determine the

development,
•

Making recommendations to the
Board on Commercial issues.

remuneration and benefits given to
the Directors of the Company.
A total fee of $22,508 was paid to

Physical Resources
Subcommittee

the Directors for their services
during the year in accordance with

The Physical Resources Committee is
chaired by Mr. Samuela Tamani. The

the remuneration and benefits
determined by the Minister of Public

Shareholding
Ministers

Board Structure

Board of
Director’s
Finance
and Audit
Subcommittee

Commercial
Subcommittee

Human
Resources
Subcommittee

Physical
Resorces
Subcommittee

Chief
Executive
Officer
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
AFL experienced satisfying results compared to the last five years.

Key Performance Indicator		
2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

41.1

40.4

44.0

46.4

55.6

37.0

36.7

36.9

37.7

42.8

EBIT ($m)

4.1

3.7

7.2

8.7

12.8

Cash from Operations ($m)

9.8

15.3

14.9

18.7

22.2

Return on Assets (%)

0.7

0.4

2.6

3.3

4.5

Return on Equity (%)

1.2

0.7

3.8

4.6

6.7

Debt/Equity ratio (%)

35.2

33.6

24.5

18.6

13.2

Current Ratio (Times)

1.0

1.1

1.8

1.7

1.6

Interest Cover (Times)

1.6

1.3

3.7

5.5

10.8

1.33

1.32

1.41

1.23

1.41

Revenue ($m)
Operating Expenses
(Including depreciation) ($m)

Total Int’l Passengers (million)

Financial Trend Analysis to December 2010		
Income Statement

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

$m

$m

$m

$m

$m

Total Revenue

41.1

40.4

44.0

46.4

55.6

Expenses excluding Depreciation

27.9

26.2

26.5

26.6

30.9

Depreciation

9.1

10.4

10.4

11.1

11.9

EBIT

4.1

3.7

7.2

8.7

12.8

Interest costs

2.6

3.0

1.9

1.6

1.2

Income Tax Expense

0.2

0.1

0.7

1.4

2.9

NPAT

1.3

0.7

4.6

5.8

8.8

Dividends Paid

1.2

0.3

1.0

2.3

3.0

					
Balance Sheet					
Total Assets

178.5

179.2

176.8

174.3

195.0

66.7

71.2

54.8

48.9

64.9

Net assets
111.8
108.0
122.0
125.5
					

130.1

Total liabilities

Revenue Composition					
Landing and Parking Fees

9.0

8.5

Air Navigation Charges

9.6

9.1

-

-

Terminal Nav Aids

9.6

10.6

12.8

9.2

9.6

10.3

0.6

1.9

3.0

Concessions

5.9

7.5

8.5

8.6

11.6

Rentals

3.1

3.0

2.7

3.0

2.7

Departure Tax Share

5.2

2.9

3.1

2.8

2.8

Development & Security Fee

5.2

5.9

7.4

6.1

6.6

Other Income

2.5

2.9

2.5

3.0

4.8

Grant Funding

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.8

0.9

41.1

40.4

44.0

46.4

55.6

Total
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($)

($)

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FIVE YEAR ANALYSIS

Revenue has increased significantly over the last

Expenses have remained between $35m to

five years. All categories of revenue have grown

$40m from 2006 to 2009. In 2010, the expenses

over this period. The major increase noted from

have increased over the $40m mark due to

2008 is due to the revision of aeronautical fees

the increase in operating costs. Utilities costs

and charges. In 2010 the concession income has

increased by $1m, due to the increase in

also grown significantly due to the increase in

electricity rates, and contract costs by $0.8m.

($)

($)

passenger footfalls and spending.

				
EBIT increased by 46.7% in 2010.

NPAT has shown significant increases

Return on assets saw continued

This has mainly been a result of the

over the last five years as the

improvement in 2010, as AFL works

increase in passenger numbers and

business continues to expand.

toward increasing the returns

the subsequent increase in revenues.

through improved productivity and

($)

asset utilisation.

Capital expenditure of $8.721 million
was incurred in 2010. Significant
additional capital expenditure is
forecast in the next five years as new
projects commence around Fiji.

26
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No equity injections occurred in 2010. Retained

Return on equity continued to increase in

profits have continued to increase steadily over

2010. The shareholder’s expected return is

the last five years, to $37.8 million in 2010.

10% on equity.
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AIRPORTS FIJI LIMITED
DIRECTORS’ REPORT
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010
DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Board of Directors present their report together with the Financial Statements of Airports Fiji Limited for the year
ended 31 December 2010 and the auditor’s report thereon.
Directors
The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:
Mr Rick Rickman
Mr Samuela Tamani
Mr Pio Tikoduadua
Mr Greg Lawlor

State of affairs
In the opinion of the Directors, the accompanying balance sheet gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company as at 31 December 2010 and that the accompanying income statement, statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows give a true and fair view of the results and cash flows for the Company for the year then ended.
Principal Activity
The principal activities of the Company during the financial year included provision of air navigation services, the
operation and management of the Nadi International Airport and other airports throughout Fiji.
Results
The net profit for the company for the year was $8,759,106 (2009: $5,761,861) after taking into account an income tax
expense of $2,865,343 (2009: $1,385,513).
Dividend
During the year, the Directors declared and paid a dividend of $3,000,000 (2009: $2,292,707).
Reserves
The Directors recommend that no amounts be transferred to reserves within the meaning of the Seventh Schedule of the
Companies Act, 1983.
Events Subsequent to Balance Date
Subsequent to year end the following events took place:• Acquisition of three hangars at Nausori Airport, which were previously owned by Air Fiji Limited and Air Pacific
Limited.
Dated at Nadi this 16 day of June 2011
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors

Director

Director
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Republic of the Fiji Islands
Office of the Auditor General
Telephone: (679) 330 9032
Fax: (679) 330 3812
Email: info@auditorgeneral.gov.fj
Website: http://www.oag.gov.fj

8th Floor, Ratu Sukuna House,
MacArthur Street,
P.O.Box 2214,
Government Building
Suva, Fiji Islands

Excellence in Public Sector Auditing

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT
AIRPORTS FIJI LIMITED
FINANCIAL STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010
I have audited the accompanying Financial Statements of Airports Fiji Limited, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31
December 2010, the income statement, the statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information as set out on pages 5 to 35.
Directors’ and Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Directors and Management are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these Financial Statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 1983 and the Public Enterprise Act
1996. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies, and making estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditor’s Responsibility
My responsibility is to express an opinion on these Financial Statements based on my audit. I have conducted my audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Financial Statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls
relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the Financial Statements.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
Audit Opinion:
In my Opinion
(a) proper books of account have been kept by the Aiports Fiji Limited, so far as it appears from my examination of 			
those books, and
(b) the accompanying financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards;
(i) are in agreement with the books of account; and
(ii) to the best of my information and according to the explanations given to me:
			
(a) give a true fair view of the state of affairs of Airports Fiji Limited as at 31 December 2010 and 			
			
of t h e results, movement in reserves and cash flows of the company for the year ended on that date; and
			
(b) give the information require by the Fiji Companies Act 1986 in the manner so required.
I have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of my knowledge and belief, were necessary for the
purposes of the audit.

Atunaisa Nadakuitavuki
ACTING AUDITOR GENERAL
Suva, Fiji
17 June 2011

AIRPORTS FIJI LIMITED
INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010
Notes

2010

2009

		

$

$
42,622,971

Revenue

2.1

50,479,832

Other income

2.2

4,371,497

2,981,390

		

54,851,329

45,604,361
16,081,527

Administrative expenses

2.3

18,055,753

Operating expenses

2.4

12,238,363

9,601,565

Personnel expenses

2.5

12,545,386

12,035,379

		

42,839,502

37,718,471

Profit from operations 		

12,011,827

7,885,890

Finance income

2.6

759,535

803,151

Finance expenses

2.7

1,146,913

1,541,667

Profit before income tax		

11,624,449

7,147,374

Income tax expense

3

(2,865,343)

(1,385,513)

Net profit for the year		

8,759,106

5,761,861

9.49

6.24

Basic earnings per share (cents)

4

The income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the Financial Statements.
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AIRPORTS FIJI LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010
Notes

2010

2009

		

$

$

92,300,180

92,300,180

-

-

12

92,300,180

92,300,180

Balance at the beginning of the year		

33,157,823

29,688,669

Prior period adjustment

22

(1,104,906)

-

Net profit for the year		

8,759,106

5,761,861

Share Capital
Balance at the beginning of the year		
Movement during the year
Balance at the end of the year
Retained Earnings

		

40,812,023

35,450,530

Dividends declared and paid

5

(3,000,000)

(2,292,707)

Balance at the end of the year		

37,812,023

33,157,823

Total equity and shares		

130,112,203

125,458,003

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the Financial Notes		
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AIRPORTS FIJI LIMITED
BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 December 2010
Notes

2010

2009

ASSETS		

$

$

6

20,736,759

7,233,275
4,878,001

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables

7

7,512,841

Inventories

8

292,315

415,803

Prepayments and other assets

9

1,306,840

1,638,235

10

4,000,000

11,897,347

		

33,848,755

26,062,661

Other financial assets

Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment

11

160,457,724

147,633,106

Deferred tax asset

3c

672,287

639,621

		

161,130,011

148,272,727

TOTAL ASSETS 		

194,978,766

174,335,388

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES			
Shareholders’ equity			
12

92,300,180

92,300,180

Retained earnings		

Share capital

37,812,023

33,157,823

Total equity		

130,112,203

125,458,003

Current liabilities			
Trade and other payables

13

10,483,531

7,371,560

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

14

6,223,494

6,133,089

Provisions

15

3,471,658

1,418,514

Deferred income

16

1,171,982

593,560

		

21,350,665

15,516,723

Non-current liabilities			
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

14

10,961,684

17,255,852

Provisions

15

658,195

302,366

Deferred income

16

18,742,851

1,916,213

Deferred tax liability

3c

13,153,168

13,886,231

		

43,515,898

33,360,662

TOTAL LIABILITIES 		

64,866,563

48,877,385

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 		

194,978,766

174,335,388

The balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the Financial Statements.
Signed for and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Director:

Director:
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AIRPORTS FIJI LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 December 2010
Note

2010

2009

Operating Activities		

$

$

Profit before tax		

11,624,449

7,147,374

Adjustment to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows
Non-cash:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment		

11,896,898

11,068,443

Deferred income		

(1,332,292)

(864,795)

Unrealised exchange loss		

66,974

143,421

Movements in provisions		

888,021

(744,853)

Movement in trade creditors for property, plant and equipment purchase

-

(2,105,616)

Unrealised exchange gain		

-

(1,243)

Items classified as investing activity - interest expense		

1,182,193

1,541,667

Movement in other assets classified as financing activity		

-

-

Movement in trade creditors classified as financing activity		

-

-

Working capital adjustments:
Increase/(decrease) in trade receivables		

(2,936,574)

1,177,875

Decrease/(increase) in inventories		

123,488

(14,883)

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and other assets		

974,413

(11)

Increase in trade and other creditors		

1,364,047

1,518,752
(110,000)

Income tax paid		

(1,640,349)

Net loss on disposal		

192,210

-

Tax withheld at source		

(168,037)

(21,407)

Net cash flows from operating activities		

22,235,441

18,734,724

Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment		

120,812

-

Acquisition of plant and equipment		

(8,720,542)

(7,288,631)

Net cash flows used in investing activities		

(8,599,730)

(7,288,631)

(5,395,449)

(5,052,956)

Financing Activities
Repayment of term loan		
Repayment of finance lease		

(875,288)

(1,545,213)

Dividends paid		

(3,000,000)

(2,292,707)

Interest paid		

(1,182,193)

(1,541,667)

2,423,356

1,066,667

(8,029,574)

(9,365,876)

Government grant received
Net cash flows used in financing activities		
Net increase in cash held		

5,606,137

2,080,217

Cash at the beginning of the year		

19,130,622

17,050,405

Cash at end of year

24,736,759

19,130,622

6

The statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the Financial Statements.
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AIRPORTS FIJI LIMITED
Notes To And Forming Part Of The Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2010
1.1

Corporate Information
Airports Fiji Limited (the “Company”) is a public company domiciled in the Fiji Islands. The Financial Statements
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2010 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution
of the Directors on 16 June, 2011. The registered office is located at AFL Compound, Nadi Airport, Fiji Islands.
The principal activities of the Company are described in Note 24.

1.2

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except where stated. The Financial State
ments are presented in Fijian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar except when otherwise
indicated.
Statement of compliance
The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

1.3

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows:
The Company has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations as of 1 January 2010:
• Improvements to IFRSs (May 2008)
• Improvements to IFRSs (April 2009)
The adoption of the standard or interpretation is described below:
Improvements to IFRSs
In May 2008 and April 2009 the IASB issued omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily with a view to
removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. There are separate transitional provisions for each standard.
The adoption of the following amendments resulted in changes to accounting policies but did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the Company.
• IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Assets and liabilities classified as held for trading in accordance

		

with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are not automatically classified as current

		

in the statement of financial position. The Company analysed whether the expected period of realisation of

		

financial assets and liabilities differed from the classification of the instrument. This did not result in any

		

reclassification of financial instruments between current and non-current in the statement of financial position.

• IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Explicitly states that only expenditure that results in recognising an asset can
		

be classified as a cash flow from investing activities. This amendment will not impact the presentation in the

		

statement of cash flows of the Company.

• IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Replaces the term “net selling price” with “fair value less costs to sell”.
		

The Company amended its accounting policy accordingly, which did not result in any change in the financial

		

position.

• IAS 18 Revenue: The Board has added guidance (which accompanies the standard) to determine whether an
		

entity is acting as a principal or as an agent. The features to consider are whether the entity:
• Has primary responsibility for providing the goods or service
• Has inventory risk
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AIRPORTS FIJI LIMITED
Notes To And Forming Part Of The Financial Statements (Continued)
For the Year Ended 31 December 2010
1.3

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued) Improvements to IFRSs (continued)

		 • Bears the credit risk
		 The Company has assessed its revenue arrangements against these criteria and concluded that it is acting
as principal in all arrangements. The revenue recognition accounting policy has been updated accordingly.
• IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosures of Government Assistance: Loans granted with 		
no or low interest will not be exempt from the requirement to impute interest. Interest is to be imputed on loans
granted with below-market interest rates. This amendment did not impact the Company as the government
as sistance received are not loans but direct grants.
• IAS 36 Impairment of Assets: When discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘fair value less cost to 		
sell’ additional disclosure is required about the discount rate, consistent with disclosures required when the
discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘value in use’. This amendment had no immediate impact on 		
the Financial Statements of the Company because the recoverable amount of its cash generating units is
currently estimated using ‘value in use’.
Other amendments resulting from Improvements to IFRSs to the following standards did not have any impact on
the accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Company:
• IFRS 2 Share - based Payment
• IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
• IAS 17 Leases
• IAS 38 Intangible Assets
• IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
1.4

Summary of significant accounting policies
a) Foreign currency translation

		

The Company’s Financial Statements are presented in Fijian dollars, which is also the Company’s functional

		

currency.
i)

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Company at the functional currency rates

prevailing at the date of the transaction.
		
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional
currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date and all differences are taken to the income
statement.
		
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is
determined.
b) Revenue recognition

36

		

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company

		

and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 		

		

received, excluding discounts, rebates, and sales taxes or duty. The Company assesses its revenue

		

arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Company

		

has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue arrangements. The following specific

		

recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:
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1.4

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
b) Revenue recognition (continued)
Rendering of services
Landing and parking fees, air charges and departure tax share are brought into account when the
relevant service has been provided.
Interest income
For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost and interest bearing financial assets classified as
available-for sale, interest income or expense is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR), which is the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset
or liability. Interest income is included in finance income in the income statement.
Rental income and concessions
Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a straight line basis
over the lease terms. Concession income is recognised on an accrual basis based on the actual concession
data.
c) Taxes
Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute
the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, by the reporting date.
Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income
statement. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.
Deferred income tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
•

Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
inter ests injoint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses
can be utilised except:
•

Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•

In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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AIRPORTS FIJI LIMITED
Notes To And Forming Part Of The Financial Statements (Continued)
For the Year Ended 31 December 2010
1.4

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

c)

Taxes (continued)
Deferred income tax
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.
Value added tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax except:
• Where the value added tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation

		

authority, in which case the value added tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as

		

part of the expense item as applicable; and

• Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of value added tax included.
The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
d)

Government grant
Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the period necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compen		
sate. Where the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised as deferred income and released to income in equal
amounts over the expected useful life of the related asset.

e)

Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement
i) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Company determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date
that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.
The Company’s financial assets include cash and short-term deposits, trade and other receivables and loan and
other receivables.
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1.4

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
e) Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

		

Subsequent measurement

		

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or
repurchasing in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by
the Company that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IAS
39. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in finance
income or finance cost in the income statement.
The Company has not designated any financial assets upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or
loss.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method (EIR), less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated
by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fee or costs that are an integral part of
the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance income in the income statement. The losses arising from
impairment are recognised in the income statement in finance costs.
Held-to-maturity investment
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are classified as
held-to-maturity when the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold it to maturity. After initial
measurement held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fee or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance
income in the income statement. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the income statement
in finance costs. The Company held term deposits amounting to $4,000,000 (2009: $11,897,347) as held-tomaturity investments during the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009.
Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:
•

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; and

•

The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘passthrough’ arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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1.4

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
e) Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

		

ii) Impairment of financial assets

		

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial

		

asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed

		

to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events

		

that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has

		

an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that 		
can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of

		

debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,

		

the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data

		

indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or

		

economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
Financial assets carried at amortised cost
For financial assets carried at amortised cost the Company first assesses individually whether objective
evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Company determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial assets original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of finance income in the income
statement. Loans together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect
of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Company. If, in a
subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to
finance costs in the income statement.
The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate.
iii) Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate. The Company determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
e) Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

		

iii) Financial liabilities (continued)

		

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly

		

attributable transaction costs.

		

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and bank overdraft, loans and borrowings.
Subsequent Measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss includes financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near
term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Company that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the income statement.
The Company has not designated any financial liabilities upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit
and loss.
Loans and borrowings
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate method (EIR) amortisation process.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fee or costs
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance cost in the income statement.
Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.
iv) Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
v)

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is
determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions
and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate
valuation techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions;
reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash
flow analysis or other valuation models.
An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are
provided in Note 20.
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1.4

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
f) Property, plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and/or accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment and borrowing costs
for long term construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced in intervals, the Company recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed,
its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition
criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in the income statement as
incurred.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:
• Infrastructure

13 years

• Buildings and improvement

80 years

• Plant and equipment

4 - 8 years

• Motor vehicles

6 years

• Office furniture and fittings

8 years and replacement basis

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the income statement when the asset is derecognised.
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end,
and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
g) Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrange
ment at inception date: whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or
assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.
Company as a lessee
Finance leases, which transfer to the Company substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership
of the leased item, are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased property
or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between
finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in the income statement.
Leased assets are depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that
the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of
the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight line basis over
the lease term.
Company as a lessor
Leases where the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset
are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
h) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for as follows:
Finish goods and working progress - costs of direct material and labour
Costs have been assigned to inventory quantities on hand at balance date using a weighted average basis.
Provision for inventory obsolescence are raised based on a review of inventories. Inventories considered 		
obsolete or not in usable condition are written off in the year in which they are identified.
i) Impairment of non-financial assets
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.
If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates
the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cashgenerating unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual
as set, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other 		
assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable 		
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In
determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are
corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair
value indicators.
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the income statement in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for property previously revalued where the
revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is also recognised in other
comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any
indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
indication exists, the Company estimates the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount. A
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is
limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the income statement unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
j) Cash and short-term deposits
Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.
For the purpose of the consolidated statement cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 		
short-term deposits as defined above.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
k) Provisions
General
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Company
expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision
is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is
material, provisions are discounted using a current pre- tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks
specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as a finance cost.
l) Employee entitlement
Provisions are made for wages and salaries, incentive payments and annual leave estimated to be
payable to employees at balance date on the basis of statutory and contractual requirements.
m) Trade and other payables
Liabilities for trade creditors and other amounts are carried at cost (inclusive of Value Added Tax where
applicable) which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received
whether or not billed to the Company. Amounts payable that have been denominated in foreign currencies
have been translated to local currency using the rates of exchange ruling at the end of the financial year.
n) Comparative figures
Comparative figures have been amended where necessary, for changes in presentation in the current year.
o)

Dividends
Dividends are recorded in the Company’s Financial Statements in the period in which the Directors approve
them.

p) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing net profit after income tax attributable to shareholders
of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year.
1.5

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions
Judgments
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated Financial Statements requires Management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of the asset or liability affected in future periods.
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Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)
Judgments (continued)
Operating lease commitments - company as lessor
The Company has entered into commercial property leases. The Company has determined, based on an
evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of these properties and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.
Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 		
within the next financial year are discussed below.
Impairment of non-financial assets
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable 		
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The fair value less costs to sell
calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar as
sets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation
is based on a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and
do not include restructuring activities that the Company is not yet committed to or significant future investments
that will enhance the asset’s performance of the cash generating unit being tested. The recoverable amount is
most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model as well as the expected future cash
inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that taxable profit will be available 		
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. Further details are contained in Note 3.
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2010
		
2.

Note

2010

2009

REVENUE AND EXPENSES		

$

$

2.1 Revenue		
		

Air navigation charges		

10,316,922

9,578,692

		

Airport security and development fee		

6,621,164

6,149,973

		

Concessions		

11,616,359

8,610,719

		

Landing and parking fees - domestic		

709,810

684,511

		

Landing and parking fees - international		

12,092,685

9,889,027

		

Departure tax share		

2,803,780

2,827,869

		

Rental - offices and warehouses		

2,363,104

1,519,802

		

Rental - check-in-counter (MUSE)		

445,161

987,852

		

Terminal navigation aid charges		

3,021,489

1,925,299

		

Car park charges		

489,358

449,227

				

50,479,832

42,622,971
1,698,300

2.2 Other income		
		

Electricity recharge		

2,309,749

		

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment		

50,455

-

		

Deferred income		

1,332,292

864,795

		

Other income		

679,001

418,295

				

4,371,497

2,981,390

2.3 Administrative expenses		
		

Included in other operating expenses are:		

		

Allowance for doubtful debts - trade receivables		

480,373

414,724

		

Allowance for doubtful debts - staff advances		

-

492,320

		

Auditors’ remuneration		

8,850

14,000

		

Board expenses		

43,296

23,982

		

Contract costs		

2,692,618

1,835,481

		

Depreciation		

11,896,898

11,068,443

		

Directors remuneration		

22,508

22,508

		

Insurance		

1,465,794

1,390,210

		

Land rental		

456,000

74,496

		

Sundry cost and supplies		

622,906

474,931

		

Travel and accommodation		

366,510

270,432

				

18,055,753

16,081,527

533,333

533,333

2.4 Operating expenses
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Meteorological costs 		

		

Post and telecommunications		

799,766

639,686

		

Utilities		

3,930,030

2,934,608

		

Other costs		

6,908,260

5,350,517

		

Unrealised exchange loss		

66,974

143,421

			

12,238,363

9,601,565
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REVENUE AND EXPENSES (continued)		

2010

2009

			

$

$

Salaries and wages		

10,295,428

9,670,476

Key management compensation		

529,375

713,694

Contribution to Fiji National Provident Fund		

1,624,522

1,549,709

2.5

Personnel expenses

Other employee benefits		

96,061

101,500

			

12,545,386

12,035,379

759,535

803,151

1,146,913

1,541,667

2.6

Finance income		
Interest income		

2.7

Finance expense		
Interest expense		

3.

Income tax
The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 are:

a)

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the tax rate for the years 		
ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 is as follows:
Accounting profit before income tax		

11,624,449

7,147,374

At the Fiji rate of 28% (2009: 29%)		

3,254,846

2,072,738

Tax effect of permanent differences		

(353,301)

(249,738)

Effect of change in tax rate		

-

(473,093)

(36,202)

35,606

2,865,343

1,385,513

Current income tax charge		

2,901,545

1,823,000

Over provision in prior year		

(36,202)

35,606

Effect of change in tax rate		

-

(473,093)

Income tax expense		

2,865,343

1,385,513

286,138

(Under)/over provision in prior year
Income tax attributable to operating profit		
b)

Income statement
Current income tax:

c)

Deferred income tax:
Deferred income tax at 29% (2009: 28%) relates to the following:
Deferred tax liability
Provision for doubtful debts		

278,248

Provision for stock obsolescence		

28,000

28,000

Employee entitlements		

352,120

285,325

Unrealised exchange loss		

18,753

40,158

Accelerated depreciation for tax purpose		

(13,153,168)

(13,885,883)

Unrealised exchange gain 		

-

(348)

Other timing differences		

(4,834)

-

Net deferred tax liability		

(12,480,881)

(13,246,610)
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3.

Income tax (continued) 		

2010

2009

			

$

$

Represented on the balance sheet as: Deferred tax asset		

672,287

639,621

Deferred tax liability		

(13,153,168)

(13,886,231)

			

(12,480,881)

(13,246,610)

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends in 2010 by the company to its
shareholders.
4.

Earnings per share
Net profit for the year		

$

$

			

8,759,106

5,761,861

Number of equity shares fully paid		

92,300,180

92,300,180

Basic earnings per share (cents)		

9.49

6.24

3,000,000

2,292,707

5.

Dividends paid and proposed		
Declared and paid during the year		

6.

Cash and short-term deposits 		

$

$

Cash on hand		

1,050

1,050

Cash at bank		

10,534,013

5,082,928

Short-term deposits		

8,000,000

-

Deposits on call		

2,201,696

2,149,297

			

20,736,759

7,233,275

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements 		
of the company, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.
For the purpose of statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at 31 December:
Cash at banks and on hand		

20,736,759

7,233,275

Held-to-maturity investment		

4,000,000

11,897,347

			

24,736,759

19,130,622

7.

Trade receivables		

$

$

Trade receivables		

7,512,841

4,878,001

Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-90 day terms. At 31 December 		
2010, trade receivables at nominal value of $831,334 (2009: $529,600) were impaired and fully provided for. 		
Movements in provision for impairment of receivables were as follows:
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At 1 January		

529,600

1,303,708

Charge for the year		

317,959

415,541

Reversal for the year		

-

(817)

Utilised		

(16,225)

(1,188,832)

At 31 December		

831,334

529,600
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2010
			
7.

Trade receivables (continued)		

2010

2009

$

$

At 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:
			

Due not impaired		Past due but not impaired

		

Total

30 days

30 - 60 days		

60 - 90 days

2010

7,512,841

6,201,907

868,219		

427,947

14,768

2009

4,878,001

4,334,588

405,297		

100,080

38,036

			
8.

2010

90 days

2009

Inventories		

$

$

Fuel		

3,733

7,977

Electrical		

174,913

143,206

Telecom and others		

213,669

364,620

Allowance for obsolescence		

(100,000)

(100,000)

Total inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value		

292,315

415,803

The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an expense is Nil (2009:Nil).
9.

Prepayments and other assets		

$

$

Prepayments		

511,360

523,706

Staff advances		

39,651

514,119

VAT receivable		

-

266,022

Deposits		

661,287

558,501

Other receivables		

222,071

268,207

Insurance recoverable		

34,883

-

Provision for doubtful debts (staff advances)		

-

(492,320)

Provision for doubtful debts (other receivable)		

(162,412)

-

			

1,306,840

1,638,235

10.

Other financial assets		

$

$

Held-to-maturity investment		

4,000,000

11,897,347
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11.

Property, plant and equipment

		

$

			
		

Buildings

$

$

Plant and		
equipment

Infrastructure

$
Motor
vehicles

$

$

Work in		
progress

Total

Cost						
At 1 January 2009

60,789,434

47,034,091

83,867,601

8,277,537

4,086,487

204,055,150

16,000

813,398

-

437,778

8,127,071

9,394,247

(960)

(220,034)

-

-

220,994

-

2,299,659

1,748,225

82,811

-

(4,130,695)

-

Additions
Reclassifications
Transfers

At December 2009						
		

63,104,133

49,375,680

83,950,412

8,715,315

8,303,857

Additions

11,887,817

491,315

4,969,542

290,667

7,395,197

25,034,538

Disposals

(47,917)

(2,865,997)

-

(143,300)

-

(3,057,214)

Transfers

269,526

3,218,376

1,974,263

-

(5,462,165)

-

75,213,559

50,219,374

90,894,217

8,862,682

10,236,889

235,426,721

At 31 December 2010

213,449,397

				
		
			
		

Buildings

Motor

Work in

equipment

Plant and		
Infrastructure

vehicles

progress

Total

27,121,575

18,564,508

4,762,463

-

54,747,848

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2009

4,299,302

Depreciation charge						
for the year
At 31 December 2009

762,444

5,449,923

3,863,081

992,995

-

11,068,443

5,061,746

32,571,498

22,427,589

5,755,458

-

65,816,291

Depreciation charge						
for the year
Disposal
At 31 December 2010

992,521

5,777,630

4,185,472

941,250

-

11,896,873

(5,041)

(2,666,209)

-

(72,917)

-

(2,744,167)

6,049,226

35,682,919

26,613,061

6,623,791

-

74,968,997

						
Net book value:						
At 31 December 2010

69,164,333

14,536,455

64,281,156

2,238,891

10,236,889

160,457,724

At 31 December 2009

58,042,387

16,804,182

61,522,823

2,959,857

8,303,857

147,633,106

At 1 January 2009

56,490,132

19,912,516

65,303,093

3,515,074

4,086,487

149,307,302

12.

Share capital		

$		

$

100,000,000		

100,000,000

92, 300, 180		

92, 300, 180

Authorised
Ordinary shares of $1.00 each		
Ordinary shares issued and fully paid
92, 300, 180 ordinary shares of $1.00 each		
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13.

Trade and other payables		

2010

2009

		

$

$

Trade payables		

3,307,971

4,080,816

Land rental		

279,407

6,100

Departure tax collected on behalf of Civil Aviation Authority of Fiji		

528,290

406,570

Departure tax collected on behalf of Government		

4,294,931

2,426,470

Other deposits		

650,169

451,604

Income received in advance		

181,219

-

VAT payable		

1,241,544

-

			

10,483,531

7,371,560

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities:		
-Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms.
-Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of six months.		
14.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings		

$

$

Current		
Finance leases		

524,681

854,492

Bank loans		

5,698,813

5,278,597

			

6,223,494

6,133,089

Non-current		
Finance leases		

139,831

618,334

Bank loans		

10,821,853

16,637,518

			

10,961,684

17,255,852

Details of interest bearing loans and borrowings are:
Finance leases
Finance leases for vehicles from ANZ Banking Group Limited are subject to interest rate ranging from 9.75% to
11.75% (2009: 9.75% to 11.75%), repayable in monthly installments of $5,902.82 (2009: $5,902.82) which is 		
inclusive of interest. The securities for the lease are same as the ANZ bank loan.
Finance lease for fire truck from ANZ Banking Group Limited are subject to interest rate ranging from 6.25% to
7.00% (2009: 6.25% to 7.00%), repayable in monthly installments of $42,200.74 (2009: $41,907) which is
inclusive of interest. The securities for the lease are same as the ANZ bank loan.
Bank loans
Bank loans from ANZ Banking Group Limited are subject to interest rate ranging from 5.25% to 5.60% (2009: 		
5.50% to 6.25%), repayable by monthly installments of $539,956 (2009: $589,617) which is inclusive of interest.
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14.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (continued)
The bank loans, finance lease and credit facility from ANZ Banking Group Limited are secured by:
i)

First registered mortgage debenture over all assets and undertakings of Airports Fiji Limited, including its 		
uncalled and unpaid capital;

ii)

Undertaking by Government of Fiji for Airports Fiji Limited to have full access rights to all 17 airports and for
the bank to have the right to assign and/or sell any/all the assets of Airports Fiji Limited;

iii)

Undertaking of Government of Fiji not to transfer portion of CL 3469 which contains all the

iv)

Undertaking from Airports Fiji Limited to ANZ Bank to execute a mortgage in favour of ANZ Bank upon

buildings, infrastructure, towers and plant, etc to anyone but Airports Fiji Limited;
issuance of Transfer of Lease no. 3469;
v)

Negative Pledge between Airports Fiji Limited and ANZ Bank;

vi)

Motor vehicles acquired under the ANZ Master operating lease agreement; and

vii) Letter of charge over ANZ Term deposit funds.
			
15.

2010

2009

$

$

Balance at 1 January 		

1,267,036

1,730,101

Arising during the year		

882,866

693,542

Utilised during the year		

(296,579)

(1,156,607)

Balance at 31 December		

1,853,323

1,267,036

Provisions		
Provision for employee entitlements:

Provision for taxation:
Balance at 1 January		

453,844

-

Arising during the year		

3,631,072

585,251

Paid during the year		

(1,640,349)

(110,000)

Tax withheld at source		

(168,037)

(21,407)

Balance at 31 December		

2,276,530

453,844

Current		

3,471,658

1,418,514

Non-current		

658,195

302,366

			

4,129,853

1,720,880

16.

Deferred income 		

$

$

Balance at 1 January		

2,509,773

2,307,901

2,423,356

1,066,667

Arising during the year:
		
		

Government grant		
Assets transferred from CAAFI		

16,313,996

-

		

21,247,125

3,374,568
(822,902)

Amortisation:

52

		

Government grant 		

(854,586)

		

Assets transferred from CAAFI		

(435,813)

-

		

Sale and leaseback transaction		

(41,893)

(41,893)

		

Balance at 31 December		

19,914,833

2,509,773

Current 		

1,171,982

593,560

Non-current		

18,742,851

1,916,213

			

19,914,833

2,509,773
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Commitments and contingencies		

2010

2009

			

17.

$

$

Operating lease revenue - Company as lessor
Future receipts in respect of operating lease are as follows:
Within one year		

12,087,700

2,546,428

Minimum lease revenue		

12,087,700

2,546,428

524,681

854,492

Finance lease commitments - Company as lessee
Future commitments in respect of finance lease are as follows:
Within one year 		
After one year but not more than five years		

168,812

689,816

Future lease charges		

(28,981)

(71,482)

Minimum lease payments		

664,512

1,472,826

Finance Leases - current 		

524,681

854,492

Finance Leases - non current		

139,831

618,334

			

664,512

1,472,826

Contingent liabilities
(i)

Perumal Mupnar has filed a case against AFL. The Plaintiff claims from the Defendant a sum of $54,982.67
for unlawful damages. The matter is adjoured to 11 and 12 April 2011 for Hearing.

(ii)

A case was between Airports Fiji Limited and Permanent Secretary for Labour Industrial. AFL is the first 		
respondent in this matter. The Petitioner is seeking special leave to appeal and to vacate, vary or alter the

		

judgement of the Court of Appeal dated 7th July, 2009.

(iii) Strategic Air Services Ltd v Airports Fiji Limited. AFL is a 1st defendant in this matter. The Plaintiff claims
the 1st defendant for damages. The court ordered the plaintiff to pay security for costs but the plaintiff failed
to do so. Hence, the claim was dismissed. However, the plaintiff is now seeking leave to appeal to the
		

decision of the Court to the Court of Appeal.

(iv) Letter of credit $2,095,410.10 (2009:$6,085,071)
Capital commitments		

$

$

Approved and committed		

4,678,000

10,023,322

Approved and not committed		

36,190,000

7,944,678

				

40,868,000

17,968,000
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2010

2009

$

$

Fees		

22,508

22,508

Other benefits		

43,296

23,982

				

65,804

46,490

18.

Related party disclosures		
a) Directors:
Directors at the date of this report are:
Mr Rick Rickman
Mr Samuela Tamani

Mr Greg Lawlor
Mr Pio Tikoduadua

Directors remuneration:

(b)

Identity of related parties
The company has a related party relationship with the Government of Fiji and its various Ministries and 		
Departments, its Directors and executive officers. The Government of Fiji is a related party by virtue of its
shareholding. The Company pays for Government services provided and taxes on the same basis as any other 		
corporate entity in Fiji.

(c)

(d)

Amounts payable to related parties
Government of Fiji		

4,294,931

2,426,470

Civil Aviation Authority of Fiji		

528,290

406,570

Transactions with related parties
During the year, the Company entered into various transactions with related parties which were at normal
commercial terms and conditions. The aggregate value of major transactions with the related parties during the
year is as follows:
Government
Ministry of Lands and Mineral Resources		

172,474

157,485

Departure tax collected on behalf of Government		

37,565,225

26,040,576

Government grant received		

854,586

1,066,667

Dividends paid		

3,000,000

2,292,707

533,333

533,333

Departure tax collected on behalf of CAAFI		

5,856,150

5,538,618

Airport License & Inspection Fee		

313,693

256,681

Fiji Meteorological Services
Reimbursement of Meteorological office operating cost		
Civil Aviation Authority of Fiji (CAAFI)		
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18.

Related party disclosures (continued)
(e)

2010

2009

$

$

Transactions with key management personnel

Key management comprises of the Chief Executive Officer, General Manager Finance and IT, General
Manager Commercial, General Manager Airports and General Manager Engineering and Infrastructure.
In addition to their salaries, the Company also provides non-cash benefits to key management personnel. 			
Transactions with key management are no more favorable than those available, or which might be
reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to third parties at arm’s length.
Salary and allowances

445,206

Bonus
Superannuation
Other benefits
			
19.

361,034

-

40,381

34,413

65,097

49,756

247,182

529,375

713,694

Financial risk management objectives and policies
Principal financial liabilities comprise trade payables and loans and borrowings. The main purpose of these
financial liabilities is to raise finance for the company’s operations. The company has various financial assets 		
such as trade receivables and cash which arise directly from its operations.
The main risk arising from the company’s Financial Statements are foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit
risk, and liquidity risk. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which
are summarised below.
Foreign currency risk
The company has foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions denominated in foreign currencies arising 		
from normal trading activities. For normal currency trading activities, foreign exchange risk are not hedged or 		
subject to foreign currency forward exchange contracts.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the USD and AUD rates, with 		
all other variables held constant, of the company’s profit before tax.

		

Increase/decrease in USD rate

2010
		
2009

Effect on profit before tax $

+10%

-10%

(18,551)

22,674

+10%

(1,000)

		

-10%

1,222

		

Increase/decrease in AUD rate

Effect on profit before tax

+10%

(8,335)

-10%

10,187

2010
		
2009
		

+10%

(941)

-10%

1,150
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19.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Interest rate risk
The company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the company’s
borrowing facility and finance lease facility. The level of debt is disclosed in Note 14.
The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at the balance date:
Increase/ decrease in interest rate

Effect on profit before tax

		

$

2010

+1%

(210,514)

		

-1%

207,282

2009

+1%

(269,548)

		

-1%

266,982

Credit risk
It is the company’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification 		
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the
company’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
company.
Liquidity risk
The company monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers
the maturity of both its financial investments and financial assets (e.g. accounts receivables, other financial 		
assets) and projected cash flows from operations.
The following table summarises the maturity profile of the company’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2010 and
2009 based on contractual undiscounted payments.

Year ended 31 December 2010
		

On demand

1 to 12 months

1 to 5 years

5 years

Total

$

$

$

$

$

-

6,223,494

10,961,684

-

17,185,178

Interest-bearing
loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
		

Year ended 31 December 2009
		

-

10,483,531

-

-

10,483,531

-

16,707,025

10,961,684

-

27,668,709

On demand

1 to 12 months

1 to 5 years

5 years

Total

$

$

$

$

$

-

6,133,089

17,255,852

-

23,388,941

Interest-bearing
loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
		

-

7,371,560

-

-

7,371,560

-

13,504,649

17,255,852

-

30,760,501

Capital Management
The primary objective of the company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating 		
and a healthy capital ratio in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.
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19.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Capital Management (continued)
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the company may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
polices or processes during the years 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010.
The Company monitors capital using a gearing ratio which is total interest bearing loans and borrowings divided
by total capital plus interest bearing loans and borrowings. Interest bearing loans and borrowings includes 		
finance lease and bank loan. Capital includes equity attributable to equity holders.

			

2010

			

$

$

Interest bearing loans and borrowings		

17,185,178

23,388,941

Equity		

130,112,203

125,458,003

Total capital		

130,112,203

125,458,003

Capital and net debt		

147,297,381

148,846,944

Gearing ratio		

12%

16%

20.

2009

Financial instruments
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the company’s financial 		
instrument that are carried on the Financial Statements.
Carrying amount
Financial assets

		
Cash and short-term deposits
Trade and other receivables

Fair value

2010

2009

2010

$

$

$

2009
$

24,736,759

19,130,622

24,736,759

19,130,622

7,512,841

4,878,001

7,512,841

4,878,001

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

10,483,531

7,371,560

10,483,531

7,371,560

Interest bearing loan and borrowings

17,185,178

23,388,941

17,185,178

23,388,941

The fair value of derivatives and borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at
prevailing interest rates. The fair value of financial assets have been calculated using market interest rates.
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AIRPORTS FIJI LIMITED
Notes To And Forming Part Of The Financial Statements (Continued)
For the Year Ended 31 December 2010
21.

Subsequent events
Subsequent to year end the following events took place:• Acquisition of three hangars at Nausori Airport which were previously owned Air Fiji Limited and Air Pacific 		

		
22.

Limited

Prior year adjustment
This relates to Company being charged VAT on incinerator fees, departure tax share and airport development

		fees. Incinerator fees were charged VAT back dating 2003 while departure tax share swas charged VAT back dating
2007.
23.

Segment information
Industry segment
The Company operates predominantly in the management and operation of efficient and profitable airports 		
throughout Fiji.
Geographical segment
The Company operates in Fiji and is therefore one geographical area for reporting purposes.

24.

Principal business activity
The principal activities of the Company during the financial year included provision of air navigation services and 		
the operation and management of the Nadi International Airport and other airports throughout Fiji.

25.

Company details Registered Office Airports Fiji Limited AFL Compound
Nadi Airport
Fiji Islands.
Number of Employees
As at balance date, the Company employed a total of 467 (2009: 462 employees).
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AIRPORTS FIJI LIMITED
Notes To And Forming Part Of The Financial Statements (Continued)
For the Year Ended 31 December 2010
Disclaimer on additional Financial Information
The additional financial information, being the attached detailed Income Statement has been compiled by the 		
Management of Airports Fiji Limited.
To the extent permitted by law, we do not accept liability for any loss or damage which any person, other than Air		
ports Fiji Limited may suffer arising from any negligence on our part. No person should rely on the additional 		
financial information without having an audit or review conducted.
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AIRPORTS FIJI LIMITED
Detailed Income Statement
Year Ended 31 December 2010
Revenue		

2010

2009

			

$

$

Air navigation charges		

10,316,922

9,578,692

Airport security and development fee		

6,621,164

6,149,973

Concessions		

11,616,359

8,610,719

Landing and parking fees - domestic		

709,810

684,511

Landing and parking fees - international		

12,092,685

9,889,027

Departure tax share		

2,803,780

2,827,869

Rental - offices and warehouses		

2,363,104

1,519,802

Rental - check-in-counter (MUSE)		

445,161

987,852

Terminal navigation aid charges		

3,021,489

1,925,299

Electricity recharge		

2,309,749

1,698,300

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment		

50,455

-

Government grant		

854,586

822,902

Deferred income		

477,706

41,893

Identification card charges		

105,397

102,147

Interest on term deposit		

759,535

803,151

Sundry income		

573,604

314,905

Car park charges		

489,358

449,227

Unrealised exchange gain		

-

1,243

Total income		

55,610,864

46,407,512

Allowance for uncollectible receivables		

480,373

907,044

Airport inspection and licence fees		

316,376

358,941

Auditors’ remuneration		

8,850

14,000

Board expenses		

43,296

23,982

Consultancy		

932,325

410,938

Contract costs		

2,692,618

1,835,481

Depreciation		

11,896,898

11,068,443

Director’s remuneration		

22,508

22,508

Insurance		

1,465,794

1,390,210

Interest and bank charges		

1,182,193

1,587,441

Land rental		

456,000

74,496

Meteorological costs		

533,333

533,333

Other expenses		

722,864

576,637

Post and telecommunications		

799,766

639,686

Repairs and maintenance		

3,160,605

2,677,434

Share of ATM income		

432,074

416,415

Sundry costs and supplies		

622,906

474,931

Training and conference		

295,713

151,211

Travel and accommodation		

366,510

270,432

Unrealised exchange loss		

66,974

143,421

Utilities and services		

3,930,030

2,934,608

Vehicle and fuel costs		

770,358

713,167

Wages and salaries		

12,545,386

12,035,379

Loss on disposal of fixed assets		

242,665

-

Total expenditure		

43,986,415

39,260,138

Operating profit before tax		

11,624,449

7,147,374

Expenses		
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Registered Office
Airports Fiji Limited
AFL Compound
Namaka
Nadi
Postal Address
Airports Fiji Limited
Private Mail Bag
Nadi Airport
Fiji Islands
Telephone:
(679) 672 5777
Fascimile:
(679) 672 5161
Email:
info@afl.com.fj
Website:
www.airportsfiji.com
Bankers:
ANZ Banking Group
Auditor:
Office of the Auditor General

